# Take-home message: 2007 American Society of Clinical Oncology Annual Meeting

## V. Khurdayan

Prous Science, P.O. Box 540, 08080 Barcelona, Spain

#### CONTENTS

Abstract
Introduction
Breast cancer
Gastrointestinal cancer
Genitourinary cancer
Gynecological cancer
Head and neck cancer
Leukemia, myelodysplasia and transplantation
Lung cancer
Melanoma
References

## **Abstract**

The 43rd American Society of Clinical Oncology (ASCO) Annual Meeting held in Chicago in early June served as a platform to stimulate dialogue between basic and clinical investigators and improve the "bench-to-bedside" and "bedside-to-bench" flow of research. The present report highlights important discoveries presented at the meeting and provides key points for different cancer types.

#### Introduction

The 43rd American Society of Clinical Oncology (ASCO) Annual Meeting held under the theme "Translating Research into Practice" took place in Chicago in early June 2007. It is more clear than ever not only that basic science must be translated into practical applications, but also that clinical research must provide observations to help guide and accelerate basic investigations. The ASCO Annual Meeting this year strived to catalyze the translational research in both directions: "bench-to-bedside" and "bedside-to bench". The extensive scientific and clinical content of the meeting was analyzed and prioritized, with important discoveries and developments becoming part of "ASCO 2007: take-home message", which continues the series of congress reports focusing on the most relevant information presented at international meetings.

#### **Breast cancer**

- Weekly paclitaxel is a preferable schedule in metastatic breast cancer
- No benefit of adding carboplatin to docetaxel/ trastuzumab therapy in metastatic breast cancer
- Addition of ixabepilone to capecitabine improves progression-free interval but increases toxicity in metastatic breast cancer
- Lapatinib is active in patients with brain metastasis resulting from breast cancer
- Bevacizumab plus paclitaxel is the best first-line therapy for HER-2-negative breast cancer, although not yet approved by the FDA
- The NSABP B-31 study confirms trastuzumab-associated cardiotoxicity

Evaluation of 569 patients with metastatic breast cancer on either a weekly (n=278) or an every 3 weeks (n=291) regimen of paclitaxel revealed that the weekly schedule was associated with the same or better progression-free interval (24 weeks *versus* 22 weeks) and a better response rate (43% *versus* 33%). These results are similar to those observed in the CALGB 9840 study presented at the ASCO Annual Meeting in 2004. Therefore, weekly paclitaxel is the preferred schedule (1).

The BCIRG 007 study assessed the clinical benefit of adding carboplatin to trastuzumab/docetaxel therapy in HER-2-postive metastatic breast cancer patients. Time to progression, clinical benefit and complete and partial response rates were similar in both arms. Importantly, median survival time for both regimens was 3 years, likely the result of the addition of trastuzumab to chemotherapy. This study suggested that there is no additional benefit of carboplatin if the patients are already receiving docetaxel at 100 mg/m² (2).

Ixabepilone, an epothilone derivative, was evaluated in an international, randomized, open-label phase III trial in patients with metastatic or locally advanced breast cancer, with progression-free survival (PFS) being the primary endpoint. Ixabepilone (40 mg/m² by 3-h i.v. infusion every 3 weeks) plus capecitabine (2500 mg/m²/day p.o. on days 1-14 every 3 weeks) resulted in a statistically significant improvement in PFS, although clinically the differ-

ence was only 6-7 weeks and the combination was more toxic when compared to capecitabine alone (3).

Lapatinib (750 mg b.i.d.) was active in patients (n=241) with HER-2-positive breast cancer and progressive central nervous system (CNS) disease who had undergone prior cranial radiotherapy and trastuzumab therapy. The results were encouraging, with partial responses registered in 6% of patients and reductions in lesion volume of 50% or more observed in 20% of patients. Grade 3 diarrhea, which is a common toxicity observed with lapatinib, was reported in 12% of patients (4).

Bevacizumab plus capecitabine was assessed as first-line therapy in 106 patients with HER-2-negative metastatic breast cancer. The progression-free interval was 5.7 months and complete and partial responses were obtained in 38% of patients (5). These results are comparable to those published by Miller *et al.* in the *Journal of Clinical Oncology* in 2005, where it was demonstrated that second-line bevacizumab plus capecitabine resulted in a progression-free interval of 5 months and a 20% response rate. However, recent data on bevacizumab plus paclitaxel presented at the San Antonio Breast Cancer Symposium by Miller *et al.* demonstrated a progression-free interval of 11.4 months, indicating that this may be the best first-line regimen.

Cardiac toxicity was reported to be the major toxicity associated with trastuzumab treatment of patients with HER-2-positive breast cancer. The NSABP B-31 study, which compared sequential doxorubicin/cyclophosphamide followed by paclitaxel *versus* doxorubicin/cyclophosphamide followed by paclitaxel with trastuzumab in patients with node-positive, HER-2-positive breast cancer provided further evidence that trastuzumab increases the incidence of chronic heart failure (CHF). The difference in the cumulative incidence of CHF at 5 years was 2.7% (6).

#### **Gastrointestinal cancer**

- Sorafenib extends survival in hepatocellular carcinoma
- Combinations of gemcitabine with cetuximab or bevacizumab do not add clinical benefit
- CDH1 gene mutation predisposes for diffuse gastric
- Perioperative FOLFOX4 improves PFS in patients with resectable colorectal cancer liver metastasis
- S-1 continues to show good results in gastric cancer

Sorafenib, a multikinase inhibitor, extended survival in patients with hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC), making it the most paradigm-changing presentation at this year's ASCO Annual Meeting. HCC is the third cause of death due to cancer, and currently no standard therapy exists for advanced HCC. In a multicenter, randomized, placebo-controlled phase III trial of sorafenib *versus* placebo in patients (n=602) with advanced HCC, significant improvement in overall survival was registered in patients receiving sorafenib: median overall survival was 10.7 months *versus* 7.9 months. Additionally, median time to

progression was longer with sorafenib *versus* placebo (5.5 months *versus* 2.8 months). These findings establish sorafenib as a first-line treatment for advanced HCC (7).

Two phase III trials assessed combinations of biologics with gemcitabine in pancreatic cancer. In one study, gemcitabine alone or in combination with cetuximab was evaluated in patients with advanced pancreatic cancer. The objective response rates were similar in both arms (8). In another study, gemcitabine was combined with bevacizumab, but the lack of clinical benefit compared to gemcitabine alone resulted in termination of the study at interim analysis.

One of the prominent developments in gastric cancer is the discovery that mutation in the *CDH1* gene, which encodes the E-cadherin protein, increases the risk for gastric cancer. Prophylactic gastrectomy in 39 patients that tested positive for *CDH1* mutation revealed that 31 patients had occult diffuse gastric cancer (9).

Results from a randomized phase III study in patients with potentially resectable colorectal cancer showed that administration of perioperative FOLFOX4 chemotherapy improved PFS over surgery alone. Patients randomized to perioperative FOLFOX4 (6 cycles before and 6 cycles after surgery) had a significantly increased median PFS at a median follow-up of 3.9 years; the treatment was well tolerated (10).

S-1 is an orally available combination of tegafur, gimeracil and oteracil that has been used in Japan for several years for the treatment of stomach cancer. A study presented by Japanese investigators compared 5-fluorouracil (5-FU; continuous infusion) *versus* cisplatin plus irinotecan hydrochloride *versus* S-1 in patients with stomach cancer. It was found that S-1 was not inferior to infusional 5-FU and perhaps even better (11). Another group reported on a phase III trial of S-1 alone *versus* S-1 plus cisplatin in patients (n=106 and n=87, respectively) with advanced gastric cancer, termed the SPIRITS trial. S-1 had activity as a single agent (overall response rate was 31%), although combination of S-1 plus cisplatin produced better results (overall response rate of 54%) (12).

## Genitourinary cancer

- Paclitaxel/cisplatin/gemcitabine and gemcitabine/cisplatin showed no difference in overall survival in urothelial cancer
- Bevacizumab improves PFS when combined with interferon alfa-2a in metastatic renal cell carcinoma (mRCC)
- Satraplatin significantly reduces the risk of disease progression in hormone-refractory prostate cancer (HRPC)

A randomized, international phase III study evaluated the role of paclitaxel when added to gemcitabine with paclitaxel/cisplatin/gemcitabine in patients (n=627) with advanced/metastatic urothelial cancer, with the main endpoint being overall survival. Overall response rates were 57.1% for paclitaxel/cisplatin/gemcitabine and 46.4% for

Drugs Fut 2007, 32(7) 657

paclitaxel/gemcitabine, and median PFS was 8.4 and 7.7 months, respectively. No significant difference in overall survival was found between the two treatment arms. Thrombopenia and bleeding were more common in patients on the paclitaxel/gemcitabine regimen (12% *versus* 7%), while paclitaxel/cisplatin/gemcitabine treatment caused more febrile neutropenia (13% *versus* 4%). Although paclitaxel/cisplatin/gemcitabine therapy produced better response rates, the endpoint for overall survival and PFS was not reached (13).

Bevacizumab in combination with interferon alfa-2a (IFN- $\alpha$ 2a) as first-line treatment was found to benefit patients (n=649) with mRCC in a phase III trial. Overall, there were 505 progression events, 111 patients remained on treatment, 287 discontinued due to adverse events and 251 died. Patients on the bevacizumab plus IFN- $\alpha$ 2a regimen had significantly better PFS (10.2 months *versus* 5.4 months) and objective tumor response rate (30.6% *versus* 12.4%). Moreover, there was a trend towards improved overall survival in the bevacizumab plus IFN- $\alpha$ 2a arm (14).

Results from a randomized phase III trial revealed that satraplatin offers significant clinical benefits for the treatment of patients with HRPC. A total of 950 patients with HRPC who had failed prior therapy were administered either satraplatin (80 mg/m²/day for 5 days every 5 weeks) plus prednisone or placebo plus prednisone. Satraplatin-treated patients had a significantly better prostate-specific antigen (PSA) response (25% *versus* 12%), objective tumor response (7% *versus* 1%) and pain response (24% *versus* 14%). Patients in the satraplatin arm had a significantly lower risk of disease progression and final analysis of overall survival awaits the occurrence of the prespecified number of events (15).

# Gynecological cancer

- Maintenance chemotherapy does not benefit overall survival in advanced ovarian cancer
- Pegylated liposomal doxorubicin is better tolerated than gemcitabine in recurrent ovarian cancer
- TLK-286 efficacy was not confirmed in chemotherapyresistant ovarian cancer
- VEGF Trap is active in platinum-resistant ovarian cancer
- Adjuvant radiotherapy plus chemotherapy improves PFS and overall survival in high-risk endometrial cancer

A phase III trial conducted by Italian researchers compared observation *versus* 6 courses of paclitaxel in patients with advanced ovarian cancer in complete response after platinum/paclitaxel chemotherapy. No differences in PFS or overall survival were found, further confirming results from previous studies indicating that maintenance chemotherapy does not offer additional benefit (16).

Randomization of 154 patients with recurrent ovarian cancer to either gemcitabine (1000 mg/m² on days 1, 8, 15 and 28) or pegylated liposomal doxorubicin (40 mg/m² for 28 days) in a study by the MITO group revealed no dif-

ference in time to progression between the two arms. However, gemcitabine was associated with more hematological toxicity and pegylated liposomal doxorubicin with better quality-of-life scores; overall survival data are not yet available (17).

One of the major obstacles in treating ovarian cancer is resistance to chemotherapy. Canfosfamide hydrochloride (TLK-286), a glutathione S-transferase (GST)-activated prodrug of a phosphorodiamidate alkylating agent, was evaluated in two trials, the ASSIST-1 and ASSIST-3 studies, in patients with recurrent ovarian cancer. Previous reports have indicated that TLK-286 is capable of reversing cisplatin resistance. The ASSIST-1 trial (third-line treatment) in 440 patients randomized to TLK-286, pegylated liposomal doxorubicin or topotecan revealed that patients in the TLK-286 arm had worse overall survival than those in the doxorubicin or topotecan arms: 8.5 months versus 14.2 and 10.8 months, respectively. In the ASSIST-3 study (second-line treatment), no differences in PFS were observed between patients randomized to TLK-286 plus carboplatin or pegylated liposomal doxorubicin arms (18).

VEGF Trap (aflibercept) is a fusion protein with high affinity for vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF). Results from an ongoing phase II study of VEGF Trap (2 mg/kg *versus* 4 mg/kg i.v. every 2 weeks) in 162 patients with platinum-resistant ovarian cancer showed stable disease or partial responses in 41% of patients; however, the drug was associated with grade 3-4 toxicities (hypertension, gastrointestinal perforation and proteinuria) and the optimal dose has not been chosen (19).

Hogberg *et al.* presented results of the randomized phase III trial of adjuvant radiotherapy with or without chemotherapy in patients (n=382) with early-stage highrisk endometrial cancer. Addition of chemotherapy increased PFS from 74% to 83% and overall survival from 78% to 88%. Nevertheless, one of the major limitations of this study was the lack of standardization of chemotherapy — patients were administered carboplatin, paclitaxel, doxorubicin, cisplatin or epirubicin, or a combination of these agents (20).

## Head and neck cancer

- Addition of cetuximab to first-line platinum-based therapy extends survival in patients with recurrent and/or metastatic squamous cell head and neck cancer (SCCHN)
- Combination of cetuximab and weekly paclitaxel is beneficial in recurrent and/or metastatic SCCHN
- Erlotinib in combination with chemotherapy shows encouraging activity in incurable SCCHN
- Axitinib shows beneficial activity in patients with advanced thyroid cancer
- Human papillomavirus (HPV) status of oropharyngeal tumors is of prognostic significance

Data from an international, multicenter, randomized phase III study (the EXTREME study) in patients (n=442)

with recurrent or metastatic SCCHN showed that addition of cetuximab to first-line platinum-based therapy (cisplatin or carboplatin) produced a significant benefit in overall survival (median overall survival prolonged by 2.7 months). This was the first study in 25 years to report the beneficial use of an agent other than platinum-based therapy in recurrent or metastatic SCCHN, and will likely have an impact on the standard of care for these patients. The results for secondary endpoints, such as quality of life, are still being evaluated (21).

The Spanish Head and Cancer Group (TTCC) presented initial results of a phase II study assessing the combination of cetuximab (400/250 mg/m² i.v. weekly) and paclitaxel (80 mg/m² i.v. weekly) in patients (n=42) with recurrent and/or metastatic SCCHN. Complete and partial responses were seen in 10 and 15 patients, respectively, with a PFS of 5 months and time to progression of 6.2 months. This study continues patient accrual, and these preliminary data suggest that the addition of cetuximab is beneficial in metastatic and/or recurrent SCCHN (22).

A phase II study assessing erlotinib (100 or 150 mg/day p.o.), docetaxel (60 or 75 mg/m² i.v. every 3 weeks) and cisplatin (75 mg/m² i.v. every 3 weeks) in patients (n=48) with recurrent and/or metastatic SCCHN had the overall response rate as a primary endpoint. Complete and partial responses were registered in 4 and 28 patients, respectively, with an overall response rate of 66% and a disease control rate of 91%. Moreover, only 3 patients progressed after 2 cycles of treatment, and median overall survival was 11 months. The positive results of this first study evaluating the combination of erlotinib with chemotherapy suggest that further investigation of this regimen in incurable SCCHN is warranted (23).

HPV, especially the "high-risk" type HPV-16, has been associated with the development of SCCHN. Scientists from Johns Hopkins University studied the effect of HPV infection on survival and treatment responses in patients with SCCHN. Induction chemotherapy with paclitaxel and carboplatin followed by concurrent chemoradiotherapy was chosen as a treatment regimen. HPV was detected in 61% of patients with oropharyngeal cancer, while patients with laryngeal cancer were HPV-negative. HPV-positive patients showed a better response to induction therapy and had a clear benefit in overall survival, suggesting that HPV status could be used as a prognostic factor (24).

## Leukemia, myelodysplasia and transplantation

- Fludarabine/cyclophosphamide/rituximab has major activity in chronic lymphoblastic leukemia (CLL)
- MicroRNA and gene expression signatures have prognostic utility in acute myeloid leukemia (AML)
- Dasatinib 100 mg/day p.o. may be the best dose
- Nilotinib and bosutinib are active in chronic myelogenous leukemia (CML)
- Nilotinib, bosutinib and dasatinib have comparable efficacy

Investigators from the M.D. Anderson Cancer Center have demonstrated in a phase II trial in 300 patients with CLL that a fludarabine/cyclophosphamide/rituximab (FCR chemo/immunotherapy) regimen is associated with a 72% complete response rate, a 70% PFS rate at 5 years and a median time to progression of 80 months. There was a small increased risk of myelodysplastic syndrome (MDS) at 5 years and those who progressed on this treatment had a poor prognosis with salvage therapy (25, 26). A phase II study, known as CALGB 10404, is under way to test combinations of fludarabine/rituximab *versus* fludarabine/cyclophosphamide/rituximab *versus* fludarabine/rituximab/lenalidomide.

Over the years, prognostic features of AML have expanded from age and cytogenetic status of the patient to genetic mutations in *FLT3*, *KIT*, *CEBP* and *BCL2* and, presently, genetic signatures. Two studies assessed the use of gene expression profiles in AML. One study demonstrated that microRNA signatures correlated with mutations in *FLT3*, *ERG* and *NPM* genes and corresponded to prognosis in younger adults with AML with normal cytogenetics. Another study in AML patients with t(8; 21) translocation, which confers a good prognosis, showed that patients with good cytogenetics could be further subdivided according to their genetic profile into unfavorable and favorable subgroups (27, 28).

In chronic CML, imatinib and dasatinib are the current standards of pharmacological therapy. A study sponsored by Bristol-Myers Squibb evaluated the best dose of dasatinib (100 mg/day, 50 mg/day, 140 mg/day or 70 mg b.i.d.) to use in patients who are intolerant or resistant to imatinib. Response rates were comparable in all four arms; however, patients on 100 mg/day experienced less neutropenia, thrombocytopenia, anemia and pleural effusion (29). In a phase II study conducted by researchers at the M.D. Anderson Cancer Center, newly diagnosed patients (n=31) with CML were administered dasatinib either at 100 mg/day or 50 mg b.i.d. There was a 95% complete cytogenetic response rate and a 27% major molecular response rate at 12 months. Although these results are very encouraging, it is still premature to recommend dasatinib as first-line therapy due to excellent long-term results with imatinib (30).

Novartis' kinase inhibitor nilotinib produced major cytogenetic responses in 52% and complete cytogenetic responses in 34% of patients with imatinib-intolerant or -resistant CML (n=316) at 6 months of treatment. Nilotinib also caused grade 3-4 adverse events and it is still unclear how this drug will be used, if approved, since the response rates are similar to those of dasatinib (31). Another tyrosine kinase inhibitor, bosutinib, from Wyeth was found to be well tolerated (grade 3-4 toxicities observed in only 5% of patients) in a phase I/II study, eliciting response rates similar to dasatinib and nilotinib. A major cytogenetic response was observed in 52% of patients who were intolerant or resistant to imatinib (32). In conclusion, since dasatinib, nilotinib and bosutinib all seem to have similar efficacy, the choice of the agent to use in cases of imatinib failure will depend on the side Drugs Fut 2007, 32(7) 659

effect profile and specific mutations in the Bcr-Abl kinase.

### Lung cancer

- Gefitinib is not inferior to docetaxel in terms of overall survival in non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC)
- · Gefitinib does not benefit patients with stage III NSCLC
- Docetaxel consolidation therapy does not improve survival in stage III NSCLC
- Bevacizumab prolongs PFS in the AVAiL study
- Preoperative and postoperative chemotherapy improves survival
- Carboplatin/irinotecan is as effective as carboplatin/ etoposide in small cell lung cancer (SCLC)
- Vandetanib maintenance does not offer any additional survival benefit in SCLC
- Bevacizumab does not add benefit to chemotherapy in malignant mesothelioma

A Japanese phase III study in patients with previously treated advanced NSCLC compared gefitinib (Iressa®) at 250 mg/day to docetaxel (60 mg/m² every 3 weeks). Median survival on gefitinib was 11.5 months *versus* 14 months on docetaxel and 1-year survival was 48% and 54%, respectively. Statistical analysis of these data demonstrated that gefitinib was not inferior to docetaxel in terms of overall survival (33).

Another study of gefitinib in patients with locally advanced inoperable stage III NSCLC showed that randomization to gefitinib maintenance therapy (250 or 500 mg/day) after treatment with chemo- and radiotherapy and 3 cycles of docetaxel consolidation therapy produced worse results than the placebo arm in terms of overall survival (23 and 35 months, respectively). There were more cancer-related deaths in the gefitinib arm when compared to placebo (61 patients vs. 43 patients), leading the authors to suggest that gefitinib-mediated modification of epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) signaling may be implicated in this outcome (34). One of the reasons for survival being worse in patients on gefitinib could be attributed to its ability to activate some oncogenic drivers in the tumors of patients who were exposed to long-term gefitinib therapy.

Results from a phase III trial of cisplatin/etoposide and concurrent chest radiation with or without docetaxel (75 mg/m² every 3 weeks for 3 cycles) consolidation in patients with inoperable stage III NSCLC revealed that PFS and overall survival did not differ. However, toxicity was much greater in patients who were randomized to docetaxel: grade 3-4 infection in 11% vs. 0%, grade 3-4 pneumonitis in 9.6% vs. 1.4% and hospitalization in 28.8% vs. 8.1%. In conclusion, docetaxel consolidation therapy does not improve survival and is associated with a significantly higher rate of toxicities (35).

The ECOG 4599 study, which was presented 2 years ago, demonstrated significantly improved survival in patients with NSCLC on bevacizumab. This year, the AVAiL trial, a phase III randomized study in previously

untreated stage IIIb/IV or recurrent non-squamous cell NSCLC without brain metastasis or tumor invasion into major blood vessels, revealed that bevacizumab (7.5 or 15 mg/kg every 3 weeks) improved PFS compared to placebo. The data are still premature to analyze overall survival, and the incidence of serious adverse events leading to death was comparable across the three arms, although a higher incidence of hypertension was seen in patients on bevacizumab (36).

The Norwegian Lung Cancer Group reported the outcomes of a phase III trial of pemetrexed/carboplatin *versus* gemcitabine/carboplatin as first-line chemotherapy in patients with stage IIIB/IV NSCLC. Although there was no difference in survival, the incidence of toxicities was lower in patients treated with pemetrexed/carboplatin, resulting in a decrease in the number of blood transfusions (37).

A four-arm phase III study compared pre- and perioperative chemotherapy with two different chemotherapy regimens (gemcitabine/cisplatin or paclitaxel/carboplatin) in resectable NSCLC. Postoperative mortality was low in both pre- and perioperative arms, compliance was better in the preoperative arm, no differences in pathological responses were observed after 2 or 4 cycles and higher response rates were registered in patients with squamous cell cancers when compared to other histological types of cancer. It is feasible to administer 4 cycles of chemotherapy in a preoperative setting (38). Results from another phase III study, the SWOG 9900 trial, demonstrated that preoperative paclitaxel/carboplatin chemotherapy in early-stage NSCLC improved PFS and overall survival when compared to surgery alone (39).

In SCLC, results from a Norwegian phase III trial of irinotecan hydrochloride plus carboplatin *versus* etoposide plus carboplatin indicate that the former is associated with more responses (18 patients *vs.* 7 patients) and better median survival (8.5 months *vs.* 7.1 months). In accordance with previous data, these two regimens can be considered to have comparable efficacy (40). Another study in SCLC patients revealed that vandetanib maintenance did not make a difference in PFS or overall survival after vandetanib induction therapy (41).

Final results from a multicenter, double-blind phase II trial in patients with malignant mesothelioma showed that addition of bevacizumab to a gemcitabine/cisplatin regimen did not improve overall survival (42). No benefit in terms of overall survival was found in a phase III study of active symptomatic control with or without chemotherapy in patients with mesothelioma. These findings were surprising, since previous studies had shown that chemotherapeutic regimens are active in mesothelioma (43).

## Melanoma

- Prolonged interferon therapy does not improve survival in stage III melanoma
- Interferon triggers production of autoimmune antibodies
- Vaccines continue to be tested
- Sorafenib prolongs time to progression in stage IV melanoma

Once melanoma reaches stage III/IV, the treatment options are scarce and the prognosis is bleak. This year, presentations at the ASCO Annual Meeting focused on the treatment of advanced melanoma: stage III disease with immune therapies such as interferon alfa and vaccines, and stage IV disease with combinations of chemotherapy and targeted agents.

The current standard of treatment for stage III melanoma is high-dose interferon therapy (1-month induction i.v. plus 48 weeks s.c.). A study from Eggermont *et al.* demonstrated that treatment of patients with interferon for 5 years produced a similar advantage in terms of relapse-free survival, but did not prolong overall survival when compared to the observation arm. Moreover, interferon therapy is associated with considerable toxicity, 40% of patients withdrawing from this study due to toxicity (44).

One of the presentations analyzed the mechanism of action of interferon in melanoma. The investigators tested blood samples from stage III melanoma patients (n=278) for the presence of anti-cardiolipin, anti-thyroglobulin and anti-nuclear antibodies. Although it was found that interferon induces the production of autoimmune antibodies, the correlation between the presence of such antibodies and PFS depended on the type of statistical analysis used to evaluate the data (45).

A phase III trial of Bacillus Calmette-Guerin (BCG) and allogeneic melanoma vaccine (MCV) administered every 2 weeks to 3 months for up to 5 years or placebo showed no differences in survival in patients with stage III (n=1,160) and IV (n=496) melanoma (46). Several studies are currently under way to test the combination of vaccines and interferon.

For patients with stage IV melanoma, several studies evaluated targeted agents as potential therapeutic approaches. A randomized phase II trial of sorafenib (400 mg p.o. b.i.d.) *versus* placebo in previously untreated stage IV melanoma patients on decarbazine therapy showed that sorafenib prolonged the time to progression but not overall survival (47). Results from a phase III study conducted in 270 patients with stage III/IV melanoma randomized to receive either carboplatin/paclitaxel/sorafenib or carboplatin/paclitaxel/placebo demonstrated no differences in overall survival (48). It is hoped that further understanding of the tumor microenvironment and mechanisms of action of immunotherapies will allow beneficial combinations with targeted agents.

### References

- 1. Verrill, M.W., Lee, J., Cameron, D.A. et al. Anglo-Celtic IV: First results of a UK National Cancer Research Network randomised phase 3 pharmacogenetic trial of weekly versus 3 weekly paclitaxel in patients with locally advanced or metastatic breast cancer (ABC). J Clin Oncol [43rd Annu Meet Am Soc Clin Oncol (ASCO) (June 1-5, Chicago) 2007] 2007, 25(18, Suppl.): Abst LBA1005.
- 2. Pegram, M., Forbes, J., Pienkowski, T. et al. BCIRG 007: First overall survival analysis of randomized phase III trial of

- trastuzumab plus docetaxel with or without carboplatin as first line therapy in HER2 amplified metastatic breast cancer (MBC). J Clin Oncol [43rd Annu Meet Am Soc Clin Oncol (ASCO) (June 1-5, Chicago) 2007] 2007, 25(18, Suppl.): Abst LBA1008.
- 3. Vahdat, L.T., Thomas, E., Li, R. et al. *Phase III trial of ixabepilone plus capecitabine compared to capecitabine alone in patients with metastatic breast cancer (MBC) previously treated or resistant to an anthracycline and resistant to taxanes.* J Clin Oncol [43rd Annu Meet Am Soc Clin Oncol (ASCO) (June 1-5, Chicago) 2007] 2007, 25(18, Suppl.): Abst 1006.
- 4. Lin, N.U., Dieras, V., Paul, D. et al. *EGF105084*, a phase *II study of lapatinib for brain metastases in patients (pts) with HER2+ breast cancer following trastuzumab (H) based systemic therapy and cranial radiotherapy (RT).* J Clin Oncol [43rd Annu Meet Am Soc Clin Oncol (ASCO) (June 1-5, Chicago) 2007] 2007, 25(18, Suppl.): Abst 1012.
- 5. Sledge, G., Miller, K., Moisa, C., Gradishar, W. Safety and efficacy of capecitabine (C) plus bevacizumab (B) as first-line in metastatic breast cancer. J Clin Oncol [43rd Annu Meet Am Soc Clin Oncol (ASCO) (June 1-5, Chicago) 2007] 2007, 25(18, Suppl.): Abst 1013.
- 6. Rastogi, P., Jeong, J., Geyer, C.E. et al. Five year update of cardiac dysfunction on NSABP B-31, a randomized trial of sequential doxorubicin/cyclophosphamide (AC)—paclitaxel (T) vs. AC—T with trastuzumab (H). J Clin Oncol [43rd Annu Meet Am Soc Clin Oncol (ASCO) (June 1-5, Chicago) 2007] 2007, 25(18, Suppl.): Abst LBA513.
- 7. Llovet, J., Ricci, S., Mazzaferro, V. et al. Sorafenib improves survival in advanced hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC): Results of a phase III randomized placebo-controlled trial (SHARP trial). J Clin Oncol [43rd Annu Meet Am Soc Clin Oncol (ASCO) (June 1-5, Chicago) 2007] 2007, 25(18, Suppl.): Abst LBA1.
- 8. Philip, P.A., Benedetti, J., Fenoglio-Preiser, C. et al. *Phase III study of gemcitabine [G] plus cetuximab [C] versus gemcitabine in patients [pts] with locally advanced or metastatic pancreatic adenocarcinoma [PC]: SWOG S0205 study.* J Clin Oncol [43rd Annu Meet Am Soc Clin Oncol (ASCO) (June 1-5, Chicago) 2007] 2007, 25(18, Suppl.): Abst LBA4509.
- 9. Lynch, H.T., Caldas, C., Wirtzfeld, D. et al. Hereditary diffuse gastric cancer: Natural history, pathology, screening limitations, and prophylactic total gastrectomy in CDH1 mutation carriers. J Clin Oncol [43rd Annu Meet Am Soc Clin Oncol (ASCO) (June 1-5, Chicago) 2007] 2007, 25(18, Suppl.): Abst 4500.
- 10. Nordlinger, B., Sorbye, H., Collette, L. et al. Final results of the EORTC Intergroup randomized phase III study 40983 [EPOC] evaluating the benefit of peri-operative FOLFOX4 chemotherapy for patients with potentially resectable colorectal cancer liver metastases. J Clin Oncol [43rd Annu Meet Am Soc Clin Oncol (ASCO) (June 1-5, Chicago) 2007] 2007, 25(18, Suppl.): Abst LBA5.
- 11. Boku, N., Yamamoto, S., Shirao, K. et al. Randomized phase III study of 5-fluorouracil (5-FU) alone versus combination of irinotecan and cisplatin (CP) versus S-1 alone in advanced gastric cancer (JCOG9912). J Clin Oncol [43rd Annu Meet Am Soc Clin Oncol (ASCO) (June 1-5, Chicago) 2007] 2007, 25(18, Suppl.): Abst LBA4513.
- 12. Narahara, H., Koizumi, W., Hara, T. et al. Randomized phase III study of S-1 alone versus S-1 + cisplatin in the treatment for advanced gastric cancer (The SPIRITS trial) SPIRITS: S-1 plus

Drugs Fut 2007, 32(7) 661

cisplatin vs S-1 in RCT in the treatment for stomach cancer. J Clin Oncol [43rd Annu Meet Am Soc Clin Oncol (ASCO) (June 1-5, Chicago) 2007] 2007, 25(18, Suppl.): Abst 4514.

- 13. Bellmunt, J., von der Maase, H., Mead, G.M. et al. Randomized phase III study comparing paclitaxel/cisplatin/gemcitabine (PCG) and gemcitabine/cisplatin (GC) in patients with locally advanced (LA) or metastatic (M) urothelial cancer without prior systemic therapy; EORTC30987/Intergroup study. J Clin Oncol [43rd Annu Meet Am Soc Clin Oncol (ASCO) (June 1-5, Chicago) 2007] 2007, 25(18, Suppl.): Abst LBA5030.
- 14. Escudier, B., Koralewski, P., Pluzanska, A. et al. *A randomized, controlled, double-blind phase III study (AVOREN) of bevacizumab/interferon-alpha2a vs placebo/interferon-alpha2a as first-line therapy in metastatic renal cell carcinoma.* J Clin Oncol [43rd Annu Meet Am Soc Clin Oncol (ASCO) (June 1-5, Chicago) 2007] 2007, 25(18, Suppl.): Abst 3.
- 15. Sternberg, C.N., Petrylak, D., Witjes, F. et al. Satraplatin (S) demonstrates significant clinical benefits for the treatment of patients with HRPC: Results of a randomized phase III trial. J Clin Oncol [43rd Annu Meet Am Soc Clin Oncol (ASCO) (June 1-5, Chicago) 2007] 2007, 25(18, Suppl.): Abst 5019.
- 16. Conte, P.F., Favalli, G., Gadducci, A. et al. Final results of After-6 protocol 1: A phase III trial of observation versus 6 courses of paclitaxel (Pac) in advanced ovarian cancer patients in complete response (CR) after platinum-paclitaxel chemotherapy (CT). J Clin Oncol [43rd Annu Meet Am Soc Clin Oncol (ASCO) (June 1-5, Chicago) 2007] 2007, 25(18, Suppl.): Abst 5505.
- 17. Ferrandina, G., Lorusso, D., Pignata, S. et al. *A randomized phase III study of gemcitabine (GEM) versus pegylated liposomal doxorubicin (PLD) in progressive/recurrent ovarian cancer (OC)*. J Clin Oncol [43rd Annu Meet Am Soc Clin Oncol (ASCO) (June 1-5, Chicago) 2007] 2007, 25(18, Suppl.): Abst LBA5506.
- 18. Vergote, I., Finkler, N., del Campo, J. et al. Single agent, canfosfamide (C, TLK286) vs pegylated liposomal doxorubicin (D) or topotecan (T) in 3rd-line treatment of platinum (P) refractory or resistant ovarian cancer (OC): Phase 3 study results. J Clin Oncol [43rd Annu Meet Am Soc Clin Oncol (ASCO) (June 1-5, Chicago) 2007] 2007, 25(18, Suppl.): Abst LBA5528.
- 19. Tew, W.P., Colombo, N., Ray-Coquard, I., Oza, A., del Campo, J., Scambia, G., Spriggs, D. *VEGF-Trap for patients* (pts) with recurrent platinum-resistant epithelial ovarian cancer (EOC): Preliminary results of a randomized, multicenter phase II study. J Clin Oncol [43rd Annu Meet Am Soc Clin Oncol (ASCO) (June 1-5, Chicago) 2007] 2007, 25(18, Suppl.): Abst 5508.
- 20. Hogberg, T., Rosenberg, P., Kristensen, G. et al. *A randomized phase-Ill study on adjuvant treatment with radiation (RT)* ± chemotherapy (CT) in early-stage high-risk endometrial cancer (NSGO-EC-9501/EORTC 55991). J Clin Oncol [43rd Annu Meet Am Soc Clin Oncol (ASCO) (June 1-5, Chicago) 2007] 2007, 25(18, Suppl.): Abst 5503.
- 21. Vermorken, J., Mesia, R., Vega, V. et al. Cetuximab extends survival of patients with recurrent or metastatic SCCHN when added to first line platinum based therapy Results of a randomized phase III (Extreme) study. J Clin Oncol [43rd Annu Meet Am Soc Clin Oncol (ASCO) (June 1-5, Chicago) 2007] 2007, 25(18, Suppl.): Abst 6091.
- 22. Hitt, R., Irigoyen, A., Nuñez, J. et al. *Phase II study of combination cetuximab and weekly paclitaxel in patients with metastatic/recurrent squamous cell carcinoma of head and neck*

(SCCHN): Spanish Head and Neck Cancer Group (TTCC). J Clin Oncol [43rd Annu Meet Am Soc Clin Oncol (ASCO) (June 1-5, Chicago) 2007] 2007, 25(18, Suppl.): Abst 6012.

- 23. Kim, E.S., Kies, M.S., Glisson, B.S. et al. *Final results of a phase II study of erlotinib, docetaxel and cisplatin in patients with recurrent/metastatic head and neck cancer.* J Clin Oncol [43rd Annu Meet Am Soc Clin Oncol (ASCO) (June 1-5, Chicago) 2007] 2007, 25(18, Suppl.): Abst 6013.
- 24. Fakhry, C., Westra, W., Li, S. et al. *Prognostic significance of human papillomavirus (HPV) tumor status for patients with head and neck squamous cell carcinoma (HNSCC) in a prospective, multi-center phase II clinical trial.* J Clin Oncol [43rd Annu Meet Am Soc Clin Oncol (ASCO) (June 1-5, Chicago) 2007] 2007, 25(18, Suppl.): Abst 6000.
- 25. Tam, C.S., O'Brien, S., Wierda, W., Lerner, S., Kantarjian, H., Keating, M.J. Seventy percent of complete responders remain in continuous remission: Five-year follow-up of 300 patients treated with fludarabine, cyclophosphamide, and rituximab (FCR) as initial therapy of CLL. J Clin Oncol [43rd Annu Meet Am Soc Clin Oncol (ASCO) (June 1-5, Chicago) 2007] 2007, 25(18, Suppl.): Abst 7008.
- 26. Keating, M.J., Wierda, W., O'Brien, S., Tam, C., Lerner, S., Kantarjian, H. Salvage therapy following failure or relapse after FCR chemo-immunotherapy as initial treatment for chronic lymphocytic leukemia (CLL). J Clin Oncol [43rd Annu Meet Am Soc Clin Oncol (ASCO) (June 1-5, Chicago) 2007] 2007, 25(18, Suppl.): Abst 7009.
- 27. Radmacher, M.D., Marcucci, G., Paschka, P. et al. *MicroRNA (miR) expression signatures in molecular subsets of cytogenetically normal (CN) acute myeloid leukemia (AML): A Cancer and Leukemia Group B (CALGB) study.* J Clin Oncol [43rd Annu Meet Am Soc Clin Oncol (ASCO) (June 1-5, Chicago) 2007] 2007, 25(18, Suppl.): Abst 7010.
- 28. Paschka, P., Radmacher, M.D., Marcucci, G. et al. *Outcome prediction in adult core binding factor (CBF) acute myeloid leukemia (AML) with gene expression profiling: A Cancer and Leukemia Group B (CALGB) study.* J Clin Oncol [43rd Annu Meet Am Soc Clin Oncol (ASCO) (June 1-5, Chicago) 2007] 2007, 25(18, Suppl.): Abst 7011.
- 29. Shah, N.P., Kim, D.W., Kantarjian, H.M. et al. *Dasatinib 50 mg or 70 mg BID compared to 100 mg or 140 mg QD in patients with CML in chronic phase (CP) who are resistant or intolerant to imatinib: One-year results of CA180034*. J Clin Oncol [43rd Annu Meet Am Soc Clin Oncol (ASCO) (June 1-5, Chicago) 2007] 2007, 25(18, Suppl.): Abst 7004.
- 30. Atallah, E.L., Kantarjian, H., O'Brien, S., Jones, D., Borthakur, G., Nicaise, C., Cortes, J. *Use of dasatinib in patients (pts) with previously untreated chronic myelogenous leukemia (CML) in chronic phase (CML-CP)*. J Clin Oncol [43rd Annu Meet Am Soc Clin Oncol (ASCO) (June 1-5, Chicago) 2007] 2007, 25(18, Suppl.): Abst 7005.
- 31. Rosti, G., le Coutre, P., Bhalla, K. et al. *A phase II study of nilotinib administered to imatinib resistant and intolerant patients with chronic myelogenous leukemia (CML) in chronic phase (CP)*. J Clin Oncol [43rd Annu Meet Am Soc Clin Oncol (ASCO) (June 1-5, Chicago) 2007] 2007, 25(18, Suppl.): Abst 7007.
- 32. Gamacorti-Passerini, C., Brummendorf, T., Kantarjian, H. et al. Bosutinib (SKI-606) exhibits clinical activity in patients with Philadelphia chromosome positive CML or ALL who failed ima-

- tinib. J Clin Oncol [43rd Annu Meet Am Soc Clin Oncol (ASCO) (June 1-5, Chicago) 2007] 2007, 25(18, Suppl.): Abst 7006.
- 33. Niho, S., Ichinose, Y., Tamura, T. et al. Results of a randomized phase III study to compare the overall survival of gefitinib (IRESSA) versus docetaxel in Japanese patients with nonsmall-cell lung cancer who failed one or two chemotherapy regimens. J Clin Oncol [43rd Annu Meet Am Soc Clin Oncol (ASCO) (June 1-5, Chicago) 2007] 2007, 25(18, Suppl.): Abst LBA7509.
- 34. Kelly, K., Chansky, K., Gaspar, L.E. et al. *Updated analysis of SWOG 0023: A randomized phase III trial of gefitinib versus placebo maintenance after definitive chemoradiation followed by docetaxel in patients with locally advanced stage III non-small cell lung cancer.* J Clin Oncol [43rd Annu Meet Am Soc Clin Oncol (ASCO) (June 1-5, Chicago) 2007] 2007, 25(18, Suppl.): Abst 7513.
- 35. Hanna, N.H., Neubauer, M., Ansari, R. et al. *Phase III trial of cisplatin (P) plus etoposide (E) plus concurrent chest radiation (XRT) with or without consolidation docetaxel (D) in patients (pts) with inoperable stage III non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC): HOG LUN 01-24/USO-023.* J Clin Oncol [43rd Annu Meet Am Soc Clin Oncol (ASCO) (June 1-5, Chicago) 2007] 2007, 25(18, Suppl.): Abst 7512.
- 36. Manegold, C., von Pawel, J., Ztaloukal, P. et al. Randomised, double-blind multicentre phase III study of bevacizumab in combination with cisplatin and gemcitabine in chemotherapy-naïve patients with advanced or recurrent non-squamous non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC): BO17704. J Clin Oncol [43rd Annu Meet Am Soc Clin Oncol (ASCO) (June 1-5, Chicago) 2007] 2007, 25(18, Suppl.): Abst LBA7514.
- 37. Gronberg, B.H., Bremnes, R., Aasebo, U. et al. *Pemetrexed* + carboplatin versus gemcitabine + carboplatin in the treatment of stage IIIB/IV non-small cell lung cancer. J Clin Oncol [43rd Annu Meet Am Soc Clin Oncol (ASCO) (June 1-5, Chicago) 2007] 2007, 25(18, Suppl.): Abst 7517.
- 38. Milleron, B., Quoix, E., Westeel, V. et al. *IFCT0002 phase III study comparing a preoperative (PRE) and a perioperative (PERI) chemotherapy with two different CT regimens in resectable non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC): Early results.* J Clin Oncol [43rd Annu Meet Am Soc Clin Oncol (ASCO) (June 1-5, Chicago) 2007] 2007, 25(18, Suppl.): Abst 7519.
- 39. Pisters, K., Vallieres, E., Bunn, P.A. et al. *S9900: Surgery alone or surgery plus induction (ind) paclitaxel/carboplatin (PC) chemotherapy in early stage non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC): Follow-up on a phase III trial.* J Clin Oncol [43rd Annu Meet Am Soc Clin Oncol (ASCO) (June 1-5, Chicago) 2007] 2007, 25(18, Suppl.): Abst 7520.
- 40. Hermes, A., Bergman, B., Bremnes, R. et al. A randomized phase III trial of irinotecan plus carboplatin versus etoposide plus carboplatin in patients with small cell lung cancer, extensive disease (SCLC-ED): IRIS-Study. J Clin Oncol [43rd Annu Meet Am

- Soc Clin Oncol (ASCO) (June 1-5, Chicago) 2007] 2007, 25(18, Suppl.): Abst 7523.
- 41. Arnold, A.M., Smylie, M., Ding, K. et al. Randomized phase II study of maintenance vandetanib (ZD6474) in small cell lung cancer (SCLC) patients who have a complete or partial response to induction therapy: NCIC CTG BR.20. J Clin Oncol [43rd Annu Meet Am Soc Clin Oncol (ASCO) (June 1-5, Chicago) 2007] 2007, 25(18, Suppl.): Abst 7522.
- 42. Karrison, T., Kindler, H.L., Gandara, D.R. et al. Final analysis of a multi-center, double-blind, placebo-controlled, randomized phase II trial of gemcitabine/cisplatin (GC) plus bevacizumab (B) or placebo (P) in patients (pts) with malignant mesothelioma (MM). J Clin Oncol [43rd Annu Meet Am Soc Clin Oncol (ASCO) (June 1-5, Chicago) 2007] 2007, 25(18, Suppl.): Abst 7526.
- 43. Muers, M., Fisher, P., Snee, M. et al. A randomized phase III trial of active symptom control (ASC) with or without chemotherapy in the treatment of patients with malignant pleural mesothelioma: First results of the Medical Research Council (MRC British Thoracic Society (BTS) MS01 trial. J Clin Oncol [43rd Annu Meet Am Soc Clin Oncol (ASCO) (June 1-5, Chicago) 2007] 2007, 25(18, Suppl.): Abst LBA7525.
- 44. Eggermont, A.M., Suciu, S., Santinami, M. et al. *EORTC* 18991: Long-term adjuvant pegylated interferon-alpha2b (PEG-IFN) compared to observation in resected stage III melanoma, final results of a randomized phase III trial. J Clin Oncol [43rd Annu Meet Am Soc Clin Oncol (ASCO) (June 1-5, Chicago) 2007] 2007, 25(18, Suppl.): Abst 8504.
- 45. Bowhuis, M., Suciu, S., Kruit, W. et al. *Prognostic value of autoantibodies (auto-AB) in melanoma patients (pts) in the EORTC 18952 trial of adjuvant interferon (IFN) compared to observation (obs).* J Clin Oncol [43rd Annu Meet Am Soc Clin Oncol (ASCO) (June 1-5, Chicago) 2007] 2007, 25(18, Suppl.): Abst 8507.
- 46. Morton, D.L., Mozzillo, N., Thompson, J.F. et al. *An international, randomized, phase III trial of Bacillus Calmette-Guerin (BCG) plus allogeneic melanoma vaccine (MCV) or placebo after complete resection of melanoma metastatic to regional or distant sites.* J Clin Oncol [43rd Annu Meet Am Soc Clin Oncol (ASCO) (June 1-5, Chicago) 2007] 2007, 25(18, Suppl.): Abst 8508.
- 47. McDermott, D.F., Sosman, J.A., Hodi, F.S. et al. Randomized phase II study of dacarbazine with or without sorafenib in patients with advanced melanoma. J Clin Oncol [43rd Annu Meet Am Soc Clin Oncol (ASCO) (June 1-5, Chicago) 2007] 2007, 25(18, Suppl.): Abst 8511.
- 48. Agarwala, S.S., Keilholz, U., Hogg, D. et al. *Randomized phase III study of paclitaxel plus carboplatin with or without sorafenib as second-line treatment in patients with advanced melanoma.* J Clin Oncol [43rd Annu Meet Am Soc Clin Oncol (ASCO) (June 1-5, Chicago) 2007] 2007, 25(18, Suppl.): Abst 8510.